THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001653

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2017

SC Court of Appeals

William Rice Cook, III,.....Appellant,

v.

Benny Richard Phillips, Jr., and the real property located at 207 North Avenue,
Anderson, SC 29625 TMS # 123-26-08-02.....Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison & Radeker, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211

Daniel L. Draisen
S.C. Bar No. 13536
Timothy A. Nowacki
S.C. Bar No. 100967
Krause, Moorhead & Draisen, PA
207 E. Calhoun Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Where Appellant's claims were brought against a living individual, not the estate of a decedent, did the circuit court err in ruling that Appellant's claims were barred under the Probate Code's non-claim statute?
- II. Where Appellant pled and made a factual showing of proper claims for the sale of land owed by a living person, did the circuit court err in ruling that Appellant's claims were barred by the executor *de son tort* statutes or otherwise failed?
- III. Where the record shows that Appellant pled and made an evidentiary showing of all essential elements of his claims and the record did not establish any affirmative bar to them, was the Respondent entitled to summary judgment or dismissal on any alternative basis?
- IV. Where Appellant pled proper claims for the sale of real property and made an evidentiary showing to support them, did the circuit court err in canceling the lis pendens filed by Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, William Rice Cook, III (hereinafter "Cook"), filed a lis pendens, summons, and complaint to begin this case on December 31, 2015. (R. pp. ____; lis pendens; summons; complaint.) He sued the Respondent, Benny Richard Phillips, Jr. (hereinafter "Phillips"), and, *in rem*, the real property located at 207 North Avenue, Anderson, South Carolina 29625, which has the tax mapping system number 123-26-08-02. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 1.)

The complaint alleges that Cook, a licensed residential builder, doing business as Cook Construction Co., entered into a contract with the then-owner of the property, Claudia P. Harden (Phillips' grandmother), under which Cook was to renovate and remodel the property and Harden was to sell the renovated and remodeled property, with Harden receiving \$155,000.00 from the sale and Cook receiving the remainder of the sales proceeds. (R. pp. ____; complaint p. 3 & exhs. B & C). The agreement, as amended, provided that if the property remained unsold by October 1, 2006, Cook would "begin paying an interest-only loan at 6.5% on the outstanding principal of \$155,000 until the house sells." (R. p. ____; complaint exh. C.) Cook completed the renovation and remodeling, and the appraised value of the property rose to \$260,000.00. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 4.) The complaint alleges that Cook made such payments to Harden for about a year before the property was listed for sale, at which time Cook and Harden "agreed that in lieu of monthly payments the monthly interest amount would be added to the principal amount (of \$155,000.00) and would be paid when the Property sold." (R. p. ____; complaint p. 4.)

The complaint states that when the economic recession hit around the end of 2008, Phillips' father assumed handling Harden's affairs and unilaterally took the property off the market. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 4.) Cook discovered this and met with Phillips' father and then Phillips about it. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 4.) Both assured him that taking the property off the market was only a temporary measure and that that the property would be re-listed. (R. pp. ____; complaint pp. 4-5.) The complaint specifically notes that Phillips, who was fully aware of the agreement between Cook and Harden, assured Cook "that nothing had changed, the he and his father had decided to put furniture in the home to 'stage it,' and that they planned to re-list the Property soon." (R. p. ____; complaint p. 5.)

Phillips was later appointed conservator for Harden and, as alleged in the complaint, continued to assure Cook that he knew Cook was owed for his work and that he would be paid for it. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 6.)

Harden then died on December 3, 2013, without the property being sold and without Cook having been paid for his work. (R. pp. ____; complaint p. 6 & exh. E.) Phillips was appointed as personal representative of Harden's estate. (R. pp. ____; complaint p. 6 & exh. E.)

Phillips' father then died on February 11, 2015. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 6.) The complaint notes that after waiting an appropriate period of time, Cook brought the topic of performing the agreement to sell up to Phillips again, recounting Phillips' previous assurances. (R. p. ____; complaint p. 6.) Phillips then stated that the agreement was between his father and Cook and that Cook's "time was up and nothing could be done about it." (R. p. ____; complaint p. 6.)

The property has not been sold; rather, Phillips issued a deed of distribution of the property from Harden's estate to himself. (R. pp. ____; complaint pp. 6-7 & exhs. F-G.) Cook "has never been paid a single cent for the labor, materials and improvements made to the Property." (R. p. ____; complaint p. 7.)

Cook's complaint asserts causes of action against Phillips (and the property, *in rem*) that the complaint titled unjust enrichment, conversion, constructive trust/equitable title, and partition. (R. pp. ____; complaint pp. 7.-12)

Phillips made a motion to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, and for summary judgment. (R. pp. ____; motion to dismiss and for summary judgment.) Phillips' motion contended that Cook's claims were barred by S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-3-801 and -803, the statute of limitations, the statute of frauds, and the "Dead Man's Statute," S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-20. (R. pp. ____; motion to dismiss and for summary judgment.) It further sought the imposition of sanctions pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10. (R. pp. ____; motion to dismiss and for summary judgment.)

Later, Phillips also moved to quash the *lis pendens* filed in this case. (R. pp. ____; motion to quash.) In that motion, Phillips contended "that the action is for money only[.]" (R. pp. ____; motion to quash.)

Cook swore an affidavit, which was submitted on June 7, 2016. (R. pp. ____; affidavit of Cook.) The affidavit states the facts alleged in the complaint and also specifically notes the following:

I was never paid anything for the labor, materials, renovations and remodeling work to the property. I did not invest my time and money into this project as a gift. The renovations and remodeling to the property greatly

increased its value for which I have not been paid anything. I was repeatedly promised I would receive payment and that the property would be re-listed. I had no reason not to believe Benny Phillips, Jr. and I relied on his word and also his representations as the appointed Conservator and Personal Representative of Mrs. Harden's estate.

(R. pp. ____; affidavit of Cook.)

In the days before the motions were set to be heard, the parties both submitted memoranda concerning the motions. (R. pp. ____; defendant's motion brief; plaintiff's memorandum in opposition.) The circuit court heard Phillips' motions on June 13, 2016. (R. pp. ____; transcript.)

By order filed June 24, 2016, the circuit court granted Phillips' motion for summary judgment and ordered the clerk of court to cancel the lis pendens. (R. p. ____; order granting summary judgment p. 6.) The court ruled that all of Cooks' claims were barred by the probate non-claim statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803, because they were not presented as claims against the estate of Claudia P. Harden within the earlier of one year after her death or eight months from the publication of the notice to creditors in her estate. (R. pp. ____; order granting summary judgment pp. 3-6.) The court also ruled that the filing of the lis pendens was improper and cancelled it. (R. pp. ____; order granting summary judgment p. 5, 6.)

Cook timely moved for the court to reconsider its rulings. (R. pp. ____; motion to reconsider.) The court denied that motion by form order, without a hearing. (R. p. ____; order denying motion to reconsider.) This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Phillips promised Cook, repeatedly, that the agreement with Harden would be honored and Cook would be compensated for his significant investment of time and money in the property involved in this case. (R. pp. ___; complaint; affidavit of Cook.) Phillips induced Cook not to file a creditor's claim with Harden's estate, then called time on Cook and distributed the property to himself. (R. pp. ___; complaint; affidavit of Cook; transcript p. 13 ln. 18-25, p. 32 ln. 6-11.) Cook sued the person who did him wrong – Phillips. (R. pp. ___; complaint.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment. When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard is that “summary judgment may be rendered only when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Additionally, it must be shown that further inquiry into the facts of the case is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Folkens v. Hunt, 290 S.C. 194, 196, 348 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1986).

“All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Nelson v. Charleston County Parks &

Recreation Comm., 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (Ct. App. 2004). If “the parties vehemently dispute the inferences and conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts, . . . that simply establishes that summary judgment is not appropriate[.]” Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 20, 29 (S.C. 2008).

“When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc., 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

In 2009, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified earlier confusion about whether a scintilla of evidence is sufficient to defeat summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802-3 (2009). In Hancock, the Court held that “in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Id. What is required to defeat a summary judgment motion in cases requiring heightened burdens of proof or applying federal law is simply more than a scintilla of evidence. Id.

Motion to dismiss. The ruling on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action must be based solely upon the allegations set forth in the pleading. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). “The motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any

theory of the case. The question is whether in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in her behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Dye v. Gainey, 320 S.C. 65, 67-68, 463 S.E.2d 97, 98-99 (Ct. App. 1995). The complaint should not be dismissed even if the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Id.

Cancellation of lis pendens. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-11-40, a court may “cancel a lis pendens ‘authorized by this chapter[,]’” i.e., Chapter 11 of Title 15 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, “‘at any time after the action is settled, discontinued, or abated.’ By implication, a lis pendens that meets the statutory requirement for filing may not be canceled during the pendency of litigation.” Carolina Park Assocs., LLC v. Marino, 400 S.C. 1, 9, 732 S.E.2d 876, 880 (2012). If, however, “the lis pendens does not ‘affect[] the title to real property’ as required under § 15-11-10, the lis pendens is not authorized by the statute and the statute does not limit the court’s power to cancel it.” Id.

ARGUMENT

I. Cook did not sue the Estate of Claudia P. Harden. Cook sued Phillips individually for what Phillips did.

Nowhere does Cook’s complaint say that it was brought against Harden’s estate. (R. pp. ___; complaint.) Nowhere does Cook’s complaint say that it was brought against Phillips in his capacity as personal representative of that estate. (R. pp. ___; complaint.) The person who is a defendant in this case is Phillips, individually. (R. pp. ___; complaint p. 1; transcript p. 16 ln. 7-10, p. 21 ln. 9-11, p. 32 ln. 6-11; plaintiff’s memorandum in opposition p. 3.) Nonetheless, the circuit court ruled as though Cook’s complaint had been brought against Harden’s estate, ending Cook’s

case because of a statute – S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803, referred to as the probate non-claim statute – that sets a time limit for bringing a different kind of claim against a different kind of defendant. (R. pp. ____; order granting summary judgment pp. 3-6.) This was reversible error.

The Probate Code’s non-claim statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803, contains time limits for the presentation of creditors’ claims against an estate. The non-claim statute does not limit, nor does it purport to limit, anything other than the time in which “claims against a decedent’s estate” may be presented. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803(a)&(c). The lower court and Phillips cited a number of authorities and stated that they mean that the non-claim statute bars Cook’s claims against Phillips; however, as Cook’s counsel noted at the hearing, all of those cases concerned claims brought against an estate, not claims brought against an individual. (R. p. ____; order granting summary judgment; transcript p. 19 ln. 14-15.) For example, the Phillips v. Quick case relied upon by the circuit court concerns claims made against an estate, not claims made against a living individual. 399 S.C. 226, 228, 731 S.E.2d 327, 328 (Ct. App. 2012).

With some exceptions that are noted in the statute, if a “creditor fails to timely present a claim in compliance with the nonclaim statute, the creditor’s right of action *against the estate* is barred.” In re: Estate of Gurnham: Beach First Natl. Bank v. Estate of Gurnham, 407 S.C. 194, 754 S.E.2d 875, 881 (2014)¹ (emphasis added). “The presentation of claims *against an estate* is governed by the probate code.” In re: Estate of Tollison: Anderson Area Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Tollison, 320 S.C. 132, 136, 463 S.E.2d

¹ This opinion is referred to as “In Re Estate of Hover” in some filings made in the circuit court in this case, probably as a result of it concerning the estate of Margaret Dever Hover Gurnham and Hover being the last name of that estate’s personal representative.

611, 613 (Ct. App. 1995) (emphasis added). The non-claim statute does not bar actions against living individuals for wrongs those individuals have committed. That, however, was precisely the result that the lower court reached in this case. (R. pp. ____; order granting summary judgment.)

Underscoring that the General Assembly never intended the non-claim statute to bar actions against living individuals, including individuals who happen to be or to have been personal representatives, are two statutes that dispel any doubt about it. In S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-808(b), the Probate Code notes that “[a] personal representative is individually liable for obligations arising from ownership or control of the estate or for torts committed in the course of administration of the estate only if he is personally at fault.” That is because, if the person who holds the office of an estate’s personal representative is the individual who committed a legal wrong, he is of course liable himself for the consequences of his own wrongful conduct, just as in other vicarious liability situations. See, e.g., Steinke v. Beach Bungee, Inc., 105 F.3d 192, 195-96 (4th Cir. 1997) (corporate owner, director, or officer can be personally liable along with corporation for corporation’s tort if that individual participated directly in the tort); Gilbert v. Mid-South Mach. Co., Inc., 267 S.C. 211, 227 S.E.2d 189 (1976); Mackey v. Frazier, 234 S.C. 81, 106 S.E.2d 895 (1959); Long v. Norris & Assocs., 432 S.C. 561, 538 S.E.2d 5 (Ct. App. 2001) (error to dismiss employee as defendant); Thomas v. Delta Enter., Inc., 302 S.C. 351, 396 S.E.2d 122 (Ct. App. 1990) (agent liable in tort). Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-106² provides as follows:

² This Code section was changed by an amendment effective January 1, 2014, but not in any material way. Cook quoted the pre-amendment language in his memorandum. (R. pp. ____; plaintiff’s memorandum in opposition pp. 3-4.)

Whenever fraud has been perpetrated in connection with any proceeding or in any statement filed under this Code or if fraud is used to avoid or circumvent the provisions or purposes of this Code, any person injured thereby may: (i) obtain appropriate relief against the perpetrator of the fraud and (ii) restitution from any person (other than a bona fide purchaser) benefiting from the fraud, whether innocent or not, but only to the extent of any benefit received. Any proceeding must be commenced within two years after the discovery of the fraud, but no proceeding may be brought against one not a perpetrator of the fraud later than five years after the time of commission of the fraud. This section has no bearing on remedies relating to fraud practiced on a decedent during his lifetime which affects the succession of his estate.

When it was enacted in 1986, this statute simply adopted the language of Uniform Probate Code § 1-106 word for word. The comment to this section of the Uniform Probate Code reinforces the intent, force, and effect of the section to make clear that the provisions of the Probate Code are not to be used to shield or permit fraud.

It states:

This is an overriding provision that provides an exception to the procedures and limitations provided in the Code. The remedy of a party wronged by fraud is intended to be supplementary to other protections provided in the Code and can be maintained outside the process of settlement of the estate.

In adopting this section and enacting it as S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-106, our legislature intended to allow victims of fraud a remedy despite the time limitations and procedures found elsewhere in the statute, including the non-claim statute. One of the purposes envisioned for this section was to provide relief for persons induced not to bring their claims before the probate court as the result of fraud. See John C.P. Goldberg & Robert H. Sitkoff, Torts and Estates: Remediating Wrongful Interference with Inheritance 65 Stan. L. Rev. 353-354 (2013).

While these statutes and their history illustrate that the legislature did not intend for the non-claim statute to bar a claim against an individual who happened to serve as a personal representative, it is not necessary to resort to them. The plain words of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803 provide that its limits are bars only to “claims against a decedent’s estate[,]” not bars to anything else. “When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.” Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). When a court interprets a statute, “[w]ords must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” Id. at 499.

With due respect to the lower court, what it did was force a construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-803 that expanded its meaning to cover claims against Phillips, a living person. (R. pp. ____; order granting summary judgment.) This was error, and it is the error on which the circuit court’s entire decision was based. This court should reverse and remand this case for trial.

II. Cook’s claims against the land were not against the estate and were not barred.

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