IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001653

William Rice Cook, III Appellant

v.

Benny Richard Phillips, Jr., and the real estate property located at 207 North
Avenue, Anderson, SC 29625 TMS # 123-26-08-02 Respondent

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED

JUL 12 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Michael F. Mullinax
S.C. Bar No. 4133
Mullinax Law Firm, P.A.
Post Office Box 2665
Anderson, SC 29622
(864) 261-6242
(864) 261-6680 facsimile
mikemullinax@charter.net

ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

In the action before the Court, Cook's Complaint is grounded and based on alleged contracts which he signed with Claudia Harden in 2006. Cook took no action to enforce his claim for work and labor within the Statute of Limitations as to his claims for supposed repairs or obligations of Claudia Harden during her lifetime; and at her death, then would be converted into claims to be made against her Estate; and since Cook did nothing within the time permitted by the Statute of Limitations [three years from 2006]; and the Nonclaim Statute, §62-3-803, his claims were barred by the Trial Court. He comes before the Court now, having no basis for any action and alleges in conclusions and hearsay allegations, and attempts to establish a claim against Phillips, Jr. for an obligation that Phillips, Jr. had nothing to do with; and attempts to revive and resurrect

his barred claims by conclusorily alleging that Phillips, Jr. defrauded him. Phillips, Jr. had no contractual agreement with Cook, and had no duty toward Cook. Cook bases his whole case on paragraphs 6 through 9 of his Complaint, making reference to the alleged contract that he entered into with Claudia P. Harden. Then in paragraph 12 of his Complaint, he attempts to hook the Defendant Phillips, Jr. by a conclusory allegation about something that Phillips, Jr. and his father, Philips, Sr. allegedly did. The claim he makes is “[Plaintiff has never been paid for the labor, materials and improvements made to the property” per the contract with Harden. (R. p. 20; R. p. 21, and R. p. 24). Cook took no action to enforce his alleged agreement with Harden, and that claim was barred. He cannot legally resurrect that claim by attempting to tag Phillips, Jr. with it, years beyond the Statute of Limitations and the Nonclaim Statute. He then sets forth four causes of action which will be discussed in turn.

The claims made by Cook are frivolous. The Statute of Limitations in South Carolina provides that actions upon contract must be brought within three years. S.C. Code §15-3-530(1). The alleged contracts were for services and materials only and, even if believed, are dated February 28, 2006 and August 11, 2006. Cook filed his first claim against the Estate of Bennie Richard Phillips, Sr. on September 16, 2015 and that action has been dismissed. Cook filed this action December 31, 2015, did not serve it until January 2016, well beyond the Statute of Limitation. Cook never performed any services or provided any labor for Phillips, Jr. There was no contractual obligation or duty that existed between Phillips, Jr. and Cook. He now says his claim is against Phillips, Jr. but he has no contract with Phillips, Jr. His claim, to have any origin, is in fact grounded upon the 2006 contracts with Claudia Harden, which he alleges in his Complaint; and then tries to deny that this alleged contract

has any bearing on this claim. He makes conclusory allegations (not facts) about oral conversations with Phillips, Jr. (which all relate back to the 2006 contract) but nowhere sets forth any fraud establishing that Phillips, Jr. wrongfully acquired title to the property.

As above set forth, the Statute of Limitations, S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-530(1), we believe, barred Cook from making a successful claim against Claudia Harden during her lifetime. Then he files a claim against the Estate of Bennie Richard Phillips, Sr., and subsequently agrees and stipulates to dismiss that claim, because evidently he understood and realized that the South Carolina Nonclaim Statute, S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-801, and §62-3-803 barred him from bringing that claim. Appellant has attempted to set out “agreements” with Benny Richard Phillips, Jr. which are barred by virtue of the Statute of Frauds, §32-3-10, and even attempted to set out an allegation as to conversations pertaining to Benny Richard Phillips, Sr. and such assertions or transactions as alleged are totally barred by the Dead Man’s Statute, S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-20.

We believe, and the Trial Court agreed, the provisions of the Nonclaim Statute are mandatory and imperative under the laws of this state, and require that any outstanding claim against an individual be brought within one year of that individual’s death. See S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-803(a)(1):

“(a) all claims against a decedent’s estate which arose before the death of the decedent ... whether due or to become due, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated, founded on contract, tort, or other legal basis; if not barred earlier by another statute of limitations or nonclaim statute; are barred against the Estate, the Personal Representative, the decedent’s heirs and devisees, [emphasis added] and the non-probate transferees of the decedent; unless presented within the earlier of the following: (1) one year after decedent’s death.... [emphasis added].

Thus the Nonclaim Statute is actually is a stronger version of the Statute of Limitations and this alleged claim of the Appellant is completely barred, pursuant to the Statute of Limitations, the Nonclaim Statute and Earl Phillips as Personal Representative v. Brigitte Quick 399 S.C. 226, 731 S.E. 2d 327 (2012). Our Court has held that §62-3-803 is a Nonclaim Statute and unless the Statute is complied with, a creditor's claim is forever barred. If Cook has any status at all, which is denied, his status would be solely as a creditor of Claudia P. Harden, and he was mandated by law to comply with the Nonclaim Statute. In addition, Phillips, Jr. is protected by the very words set forth in the Nonclaim Statute as the Personal Representative and an heir and devisee of Claudia Harden. Even if you consider oral communications made by Phillips, Jr. (to constitute the basis for this action), such allegation has already answered by the Courts in South Carolina in the case of In Re: Estate of Hover 407 S.C. 194, 203, 204, 754 S.E. 2d 875, 879, 880 (2014), where the Court stated as follows:

“While equitable principles may extend the time for commencing an action under the Statute of Limitations, Nonclaim Statutes impose a condition precedent to the enforcement of a right of action and are not subject to equitable exceptions (quoting Estate of Decker v. Farm Credit Services of Mid-Am ACA 684 N.E. 2d 1137, 1139 (Ind. 1997); 34 CJS Executor and Administrators §547 (Supp. 2013) (“misleading statements, assurances or conduct of the representative inducing a creditor to refrain from the due presentation of his or her claim do not estop the representative from contesting the claim because of such a failure to present the claim”). [emphasis added]. See generally E. W. H. Annotation, Effect of Conduct of Personal Representative Preventing Filing of Claims Within Time Allowed by Statute of Nonclaim, 66 ALR 1415 (1930) (Citing State and Federal Cases addressing the general rule that no promise on the part of a Personal Representative is sufficient to prevent the bar of the Statute as to a claim not filed within the statutory period).” [Emphasis added].

In Phillips supra, page 230, the Court held “Nonclaim Statutes impose a condition precedent to the enforcement of a right of action and are not subject to equitable limitations... The time element is a built in condition of

the Nonclaim Statute and is of the essence of the right of action, and unless the claim is filed within the prescribed time set out in the statute, no enforceable right of action is created.”

Cook continues to try to raise the claim in his Brief, by alleging a Constructive Trust and then denies that his claim has any basis on the contract he entered into and plead with Harden. A Constructive Trust is an equitable claim and is barred. Then he says that he is not making any claim against Benny Richard Phillips, Jr. as a distributee because he has evidently read the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. §62-3-106 which prevents him from having a cause of action against Phillips, Jr. as Phillips, Jr. never had any obligation to pay the claim that existed against Claudia Harden.

The Appellant’s reading of 62-3-803(a) is simplistic in that it ignores the fact that the statute describes remedies which arose during the lifetime of a decedent but are not pursued until the Decedent’s death. His supposed claim was against a living person, i.e., Claudia Harden, but he never pursued that claim legally.

Phillips, Jr. had no contractual obligation, nor duty to Cook in this matter in the context of anything. Evidently Cook attempts to conjure up an equitable interest out of thin air, again with no facts and with no basis; and just because he seems to call what he has an “equitable lien” does not mean that it is so. His pleading of equitable interest is a conclusion based on nothing. He has no facts to base his “right” except the contracts which expired in 2009. His attempt to bootstrap this on to 62-3-803(d)(1) is simply wrong again. The examples quoted on page 14 of his Brief to establish an equitable interest, are all connected with actual contracts or legal obligations created by the parties, between themselves. In this case, there are no relations between Cook and Phillips, Jr. and it is clear, as he quotes from Chase Home Finance, “for an equitable lien to arise, there must be a debt” ... and an

express or implied intent that property serve as security.

CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST

Cook appears to rely upon the case of Briggs v. Richardson 273 S.C. 376, 256 SE 2d 544 (1979) to state a claim for constructive trust. Briggs (1979) predated the Nonclaim Statute. This of course, is an equitable matter which is not allowed by virtue of the Nonclaim Statute. (See In Re: Hover supra). Cook fails to recognize and take note of the fact that the law of the Nonclaim Statute in this State bars all claims whether they be legal claims or equitable claims.

The Court defined a constructive trust as follows:

“A constructive trust, otherwise known as a trust *ex maleficio*, a trust *ex delicto*, a trust *do son tort*, an involuntarily trust or an implied trust is a trust by operation of law which arises against one who, by fraud, actual or constructive, by duress or abuse of confidence, by commission of a wrong or by any form of unconscionable conduct, artifice, concealment, or questionable means and against good conscience, either has obtained or holds the right to property which he ought not in equity and good conscience to hold and enjoy. 76 Am Jur 2nd §221, page 446. The burden of proof to establish constructive trust requires clear and convincing evidence”

Thus, this definition requires that someone obtain property by means of a fraudulent act. Cook failed to exercise his legal rights against Claudia Harden personally or against her estate, and Cook is now trying to revive and resurrect that claim against an heir, a devisee, and one who legally inherited property without any legal basis therefore as recognized by the Trial Judge.

Interestingly, the Court in Briggs v. Richardson 288 S.C. 537, 343 SE 2d 653 (1986) affirmed the lower court holding that there was not sufficient evidence to establish a constructive trust in the matter at all.

Our Court has repeatedly held that the Statute of Limitations applied equally to claims against an Estate and to all charges for services which may have been performed for the decedent. See Gaston v. Gaston 80 South Carolina 157, 61 S.E. 393 (1908); Sullivan v. Latimer 17 SE 701 (1893), (Statute of Limitations applies to all charges for services performed for decedent); Godbold v. Vance 14 S.C. 458, 1881 WL 5848 (1881), claim barred by Statute of Limitations cannot be waived by acknowledgment of the debt by the administrator of the Estate; see also Black v. White 13 S.C. 37 (1880) WL 5606, Reigne v. Desportes' Ex'r 23 SCL. 118 (1838), WL 1597, (1838); Moore v. Porcher 8 S.C. E.Q., 195, 1831 WL 1618 (S.C. App.) (1831), Knox v. McCalls ADIR, 3 SCL 531 1805 WL 347 (1805). Cook continues to address a hodge-podge of baseless conclusions, theories and statements [most of which are violative of the Statute of Frauds; and the Dead Man's Statute, S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-20] attributable to Claudia Harden and to Bennie Richard Phillips, Sr., this Defendant's father, in attempts throughout the Brief to divert the attention of the Court from the simple fact that he bases his claim on the 2006 sales agreements. The allegations denominated by hearsay contained in Cook's affidavit were recognized by the Trial Court to be non-factual, conclusory, insubstantial, illusory, and failed in every respect to constitute valid facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, recognized by the laws of this State. The Court is entitled to disregard a conclusory affidavit when it appears to have been submitted solely to create a factual issue to avoid summary judgement. See Cothran v. Brown 350 S.C. 352, 566 S.E. 2d 548 (Ct. App. 2002). Cook alleges conversations with Ben Phillips, Sr. in paragraphs 11 and 12 of his Complaint, none of which are admissible and are barred by either the South Carolina Dead Man's Statute, S.C. Code Ann §19-11-20, or have no relevance or relation to any issue before the Court or the basis of Cook's claims, i.e. the

contract with Claudia Harden. The effect of the dismissal as to any claim against Bennie Richard Phillips, Sr. is that any claim that may have existed, if any at all could have, is now barred. There are no writings which create any obligation of Claudia P. Harden, other than the 2006 alleged contracts, and as to the other claims made by Cook in the pleadings, such are likewise barred by the Statute of Frauds and S.C. Code Ann. §32-3-10 as well as the Statute of Limitations set forth above.

The general rule in this State (as to Constructive Trust) was first established by the case of Wilkinson v. Wilkinson 192 S.C. 497, 7 SE 2d 447 (1940) where the Court quoted as follows:

“The general rule in this respect is well stated in 69 C.J. 750-751, as follows: “An exception to the rule that a trust cannot be established by evidence *dehors* the will is allowed and enforced in equity where the devisee or legatee has procured an absolute devise or bequest to himself by promising the testator, expressly or impliedly, that he would hold it for the benefit of another, and afterward refuses to perform his promise, but claims to hold the property in his own right and for his own benefit. In such a case equity will raise and enforce a constructive trust, unless the intention to create a trust is lacking.” This doctrine was recognized by the Supreme Court in the case of Stuckey v. Truett, 124 S.C. 122, 117 S.E. 192, 195, where Judge Cothran in his concurring opinion quotes the following with approval from 1 Tiffany, Real Estate, Section 94: ‘If one procures a devise by promising the testator to give the beneficial interests in the whole or a part of the property to a third person, he will be regarded as holding in trust for such person.’

It will thus be seen that a (constructive) secret trust is based principally upon a promise made by the devisee or legatee to the testator or testatrix, upon the faith of which an absolute devise or bequest was made.”

In order to establish a constructive trust against Phillips, Jr., in the circumstances before the Court, Phillips, Jr. would have had to have obtained the property by the use of fraudulent means, and he did not. He obtained the property by operation of law through the

Will of his grandmother, not through any representations made to this Appellant.

“A constructive trust arises whenever a party has obtained money which does not equitably belong to him and which he cannot in good conscience retain or withhold from another who is beneficially entitled to it as where money has been paid by accident, mistake of fact, or fraud, or has been acquired through a breach of trust or the violation of a fiduciary duty.”
S.S.I Medical Services, Inc., v Cox, 301 SC 493, 392SE2d 789 (1990).

EQUITABLE LIEN

Cook cites the South Carolina case of Chase Home Finance, LLC v. Risher 405 S.C. 202, 746 SE 2d 471 (Ct. App. 2013) for his position as to an equitable lien. This case actually establishes that Cook would not have any right to an equitable lien at all, because he fails to meet several of the requirements specified even were this remedy available to him. The Court in Chase Home Finance stated as follows:

“For an equitable lien to arise, there must be a debt, specific property to which the debt attaches, and an expressed or implied intent that the property serve as security for payment of the debt... If a party seeking an equitable lien cannot satisfy any of these requirements, the remedy is not available.”

The remaining cases cited by the Appellant are all distinguishable and do not support the Appellant’s case.

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